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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO

DORA ESCOBEDO and LYDIA §
OLIVAREZ §
§
Plaintiffs, §
§
V. §
§
PATRICK J. ROGERS AND §
AL ROMERO, §
§
§
Defendants. §
VERIFIED COMPLAINT
NATURE OF THE ACTION

This action seeks to enjoin Defendant individuals from threatening and
intimidating minority race voters who seek to cast their ballots in the November 4, 2008
General Election. Defendants have thus far publicly questioned Plaintiffs’ eligibility to
vote, released Plaintiffs’ names and other personal information to the media, threatened
to turn over Plaintiffs’ personal information to law enforcement officials for investigation
into voter fraud, and appeared at Plaintiffs’ homes to further intimidate them from voting.
Without this Court’s intervention, Defendants will continue to threaten and intimidate
Plaintiff voters, thus hindering their exercise of the right to vote. Plaintiffs seek an
injunction prohibiting Defendants from further threatening and intimidating them and

prohibiting Defendants from challenging their eligibility to vote.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1. This Court has jurisdiction over this action and over the parties. Jurisdiction is
proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and common law,
Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because the acts

complained of occurred in Bernalillo County, New Mexico and Defendants reside in New

Mexico.
PARTIES
PlaintifTs

2. Plaintiff DORA ESCOBEDO is a citizen of the United States. She resides in
Albuquerque, New Mexico and is a registered and eligible voter of Bernalillo County,
NM. Plaintiff ESCOBEDO is Latina.

3. Plaintiff LYDIA OLIVAREZ is a citizen of the United States. She resides in
Albuquerque, New Mexico and is & registered and eligible voter of Bernalillo County,
NM. Plaintiff OLIVAREZ is Latina.

Defendants

4, Defendant PATRICK J. ROGERS resides in New Mexico and is subject to the
laws of New Mexico and the United States.

S. Defendant AL ROMERO resides Iin New Mexico and is subject to the laws of
New Mexico and the United States.

ALLEGATIONS OF FACT

6. Plaintiff DORA ESCOBEDQ voted for the first time in the June 2008 Primary

Election in Bernalilic County, NM. Plaintiff ESCOBEDO had previously registered to
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vote on March 28, 2008, approximately seven months after becoming a naturalized
citizen. Plaintiff ESCOBEDQ is sixty-seven years old.

7. Plaintiff LYDIA OLIVAREZ voted in the June 2008 Primary Election in
Bernalillo County, NM. Plaintiff OLIVAREZ had previously registered to vote on
February 28, 2008, after moving to New Mexico from California. Plaintiff OLIVAREZ
is sixty-three years old.

8. On Thursday, October 16, 2008, Defendant ROGERS participated in a press
conference convened by the New Mexico Republican Party to announce that it believes at
least 28 people cast fraudulent votes in the June 2008 Democratic Primary Election for
State Representative in District 13.

9. At the press conference, Defendant ROGERS and other individuals distributed to
reporters a packet of documents containing information about 28 voters that it claimed
“suggests serious questions about the validity of those votes.”

10.  This press packet further stated “[t}he information immediately available indicates
significant indicia of fraud, identity theft issues or serious identity questions. The results
of the investigation (first 10 summarized below) of all 28 will be provided to the
Attorney General, District Attorney and the FBI with a request for a full and immediate
investigation.”

11.  Defendant ROGERS was further quoted in an Associated Press report of October
16, 2008 saying that the information in the press packet would be turned over to law
enforcement officials for investigation into voter fraud.

12.  The press packet named 10 individuals as having questionable votes, including

Plaintiff ESCOBEDO and Plaintiff OLIVAREZ. The press packet included copies of the
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ten individuals’ original voter registration applications which showed their addresses,
phone numbers, dates of birth, and signatures. The press packet included additional
notations regarding “indicia of fraud” for each individual.

13. The press packet stated, for Plaintiff ESCOBEDQ, that a person with her name
had relied on a Spanish language court interpreter during a legal proceeding in 1995 and
that that such reliance was “a common occurrence for illegal aliens in the court system.”
The press packet further stated that “No SSN or date of birth is associated with the voter,
highly unusual based on a resident of at least 9 years.” Finally, the press packet included
notations revealing the results of a search of Plaintiff ESCOBEDQ’s credit history.

14.  The press packet stated, for Plaintiff OLIVAREZ, that she had two social security
numbers, various “aliases” and no New Mexico driver’s license. The notations also
stated that a search regarding Plaintiff OLIVAREZ’s social security number indicated
“fraud or identity theft.”

15.  On Wednesday, October 22, 2008 Defendant ROMERO appeared at the home of
Plaintiff ESCOBEDO and asked her repeatedly to let him into her house. Defendant
ROMERO represented himself as an investigator and stated that there was a problem
with Plaintiff ESCOBEDQ’s voter registration.

16. Defendant ROMERQ demanded to see Plaintiff ESCOBEDO’s identification
card, accused Plaintiff ESCOBEDO of being a non-U.S. citizen, threatened to call
immigration authorities to her house, and laughed at her when Plaintiff ESCOBEDO
explained that she possessed naturalization documents.

17. Defendant ROMERO remained outside. Plaintiff ESCOBEDO’S home fqr

approximately one hour claiming throughout that time that he was checking discrepancies
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in voter registration. He further stated that he was working for a private attorney named
PATRICK J. ROGERS.
18.  Also on Wednesday, October 22, 2008 Defendant ROMERO appeared at the
home of Plaintiff OLIVAREZ.
19.  Plaintiff OLIVAREZ was not home at the time. Another resident of the
household sent Defendant ROMERO away and contacted Plaintiff OLIVAREZ regarding
the visit and its connection to claims of voter fraud in Bernalillo County.
20.  Plaintiffs ESCOBEDQ and OLIVAREZ feel threatened and intimidated by the
actions of Defendants and believe that they are being targeted for accusations of voter
fraud because of their race and national origin as well as their voting in the 2008 Primary
and General Elections. Plaintiff | ESCOBEDO has mailed her ballot to vote in the
November 2008 General Election and Plaintiff OLIVAREZ hopes to cast her ballot by
mail in the November 2008 General Election. Plaintiffs ESCOBEDO and OLIVAREZ
are afraid that Defendants will challenge their ability to vote in the November 2008
General Election and seek to invalidated their batlots before they are counted.
21.  Defendants’ actions against Plaintiffs were intentional, and performed with
callous, deliberate and reckless disregard for Plaintiffs’ rights under both the laws and
Constitution of the United States.

COUNTI

THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT OF 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 1971(b)
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

22.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding allegations as if fully set forth

herein.
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23.  Defendants violated 42 U.S.C. § 1971(b) by intimidating, threatening, coercing,
and/or attempting to intimidate, threaten, or coerce Plaintiffs for the purpose of
interfering with the right of Plaintiffs to vote for candidates for federal office in the
November 2008 General Election.

COUNTII

THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT OF 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 19731 (b)
{(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

24.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding allegations as if fully set forth
herein.
25.  Defendants violated 42 U.S.C. § 1973i (b) by intimidating, threatening, or
coercing, and/or attempting to intimidate, threaten, or coerce Plaintiffs for voting or
attempting to vote.

COUNT III

CONSPIRACY TO INTERFERE WITH CIVIL RIGHTS
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

26.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding allegations as if fully set forth
herein.

27.  Defendants violated 42 U.S.C. 1985 (3) by conspiring to prevent by force,
intimidation, or threat, Plaintiffs from voting for candidates for federal office in the
November 2008 General Election.

28.  Defendants’ actions against Plaintiffs were taken with racially discriminatory
intent and effect.

29,  Defendants acted intentionally and/or with reckless, deliberate and callous

indifference to Plaintiffs’ rights.
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30. Defendants’ acts and omissions were the direct and proximate cause of harm to

Plaintiffs.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray this Court provide the following relief:
A Assumer junisdiction over this matter;
B. Declare that Defendants violated Plaintiffs' rights secured by the Voting Rights
Act as alleged herein;
C. Declare that Defendants’ violated Plaintiffs’ rights secured by 42 U.S.C. 1985 (3)
as alleged herein;
D. Enjoin Defendants, their officers, agents, employees and all persons in active
concert with them, from undertaking activities which are designed to intimidate, threaten
or coerce voters concerning their right to vote in an election or which are designed to in
any way interfere with or discourage lawful exercise of the franchise;
E. Enjoin Defendants, their officers, agents, employees and all persons in active
concert with them, from undertaking activities to challenge the validity or legitimacy of
Plaintiffs’ votes cast in the November 4, 2008 General Election or the June 2008 Primary
Election;
F. Award Plaintiffs reasonable costs and attorneys fees incurred in bringing this
action;
G. Award such other and further relief as the Court may deem appropriate, including

injunctive and declaratory relief as may be required in the interests of justice.
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VERIFICATION
I, Lydia Olivarez, a citizen of the United States and resident of the State of New
Mexico, am 2 plaintiff in this action. I have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and
declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the
foregoing facts are correct and true to the best of my knowledge and belief and that those

factual matters that are stated upon information and belief are believed by me to be true.

A ﬂ&am;)
7

Lydia Olivarez

DATED: October 27, 2008

Respectfully submitted,

Line facakes

Nina Perales (seeking admission Pro Hac Vice)
Diego Bemnal (seeking admission Pro Hac Vice)
Marisol L. Perez (secking admission Pro Hac Vice)
MEXICAN AMERICAN LEGAL DEFENSE AND
EDUCATIONAL

FUND, INC.

110 Broadway, Suite 300

San Antonio, Texas 78205

(210) 224-5476

Facsimile (210) 224-5382

Ol AL

Jpseph Sapien
PHillip Sapien
SAPIEN LAW, LL.C.

P.O. Box 965

Albugquerque, NM 87103-0965
(505) 842-5079

(505) 842-6002 Fax

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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